IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ARDES JOHNSON

' **V.**

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS APPELLANT

NO. 2007-KA-00159-SCT

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Benjamin A. Suber, MS Bar No. 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Ardes Johnson

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ARDES JOHNSON

APPELLANT

v.

NO. 2007-KA-00159-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT; THEREFORE THE APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO AN ACQUITTAL PURSUANT TO *WEATHERSBY V. STATE*, 165 MISS. 207, 209, 147 SO. 481, 482 (1933).

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING JOHNSON'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of Manslaughter. Ardes Johnson was sentenced to twenty (20) years in the custody of the Department of Corrections following a jury trial on December 11-12, 2007, Honorable Albert B. Smith III, presiding. Johnson is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Johnson had previously been convicted of murder from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County following a jury trial on May 25, 2004, Honorable Albert B. Smith III, presiding. The Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed and remanded his conviction for a new trial. Johnson was subsequently tried again for murder on or about November 29, 2005, Honorable Albert B. Smith III, presiding. The Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi, granted a mistrial after the jury indicated that it was unable to reach a unanimous verdict.

<u>FACTS</u>

Ardes Johnson was in Shelby, Mississippi, having made the trip from his home in Chicago to attend his grandmother's funeral. Tr. 170. After the funeral, Johnson stayed in Shelby at his aunt's house and spent most of July 1, 2003, packing her belongings for an intended move. Tr. 172. Shirley Landrum, an old friend of Johnson's whom he had not seen in twenty years, arrived at 10:00 a.m. to help Johnson pack his aunt's belongings. Tr. 121, 173. Throughout the day, Dennis Terrell Davis, Landrum's live-in boyfriend, stopped by the apartment to speak with Landrum. Tr. 122, 174-75. Davis made his first appearance at the apartment around 7:30 a.m., inquiring as to Landrum's whereabouts. Tr. 174. Johnson informed Davis that Landrum was not there, and Davis left peacefully. *Id.* Landrum arrived at the apartment to help Johnson pack around 10:00 a.m. Tr. 175. Thirty minutes later, Davis returned to the apartment to speak with Landrum. *Id.* Landrum and Davis went outside, had a conversation, and Davis went on his way. Tr. 176. Landrum went back inside the apartment to continue helping Johnson pack. *Id.*

Johnson and Landrum continued packing throughout the day. *Id.* While Johnson was packing, he found a folding knife among his aunt's belongings. Tr. 86, 180. According to Johnson, he is a knife collector, so he threw the knife into his suitcase to take with him when he left for Chicago. Tr. 86. Around 9:30 p.m. Davis made his last visit at the apartment demanding to see Landrum. Tr. 204. Davis, who was irate at the time, pounded on the front door demanding that Landrum leave the apartment. Tr. 177, 78. Upon Landrum's request, Johnson informed Davis that Landrum was not at the apartment and had already left. Following this incident, Johnson called 911 and related the incident to Officer Gwendolyn Russell. Tr. 128, 177-78. Officer Russell arrived at the apartment for a short investigative visit and to look around for Davis. Tr. 178. Officer Russell told Johnson that she did not see Davis and that if he came back to call the station. Tr. 204.

When Officer Russell left, Landrum and Johnson continued to pack and later took a break for dinner. Tr. 140. Around midnight, the two decided to go to the store to get a few beers. Tr. 179. Johnson suggested walking instead of driving because it was nice outside. Tr. 179-80. As Johnson was leaving the apartment, he put the folding knife in his pocket. Tr. 180. While Landrum and Johnson were walking down the street, Johnson stopped at the corner to talk to a few friends. Tr. 181. While they were on the street corner, Davis appeared from around a dark corner and ran towards Landrum calling her a liar and yelling obscenities. Tr. 181. Davis approached Landrum and hit her with his right hand across the face. Tr. 131. Upon seeing Davis hit Landrum, Johnson walked over to them and told Davis to quit hitting her. Tr. 182. At this point, Landrum walked away from Davis, because she did not want to be hit anymore. Tr. 132. Both Johnson and Landrum testified that Davis had a dark object in his hand, however, no object was ever recovered. Tr. 131, 182. Johnson claims that Davis then turned towards him, with a swinging motion as if to hit him, and Johnson stabbed Davis once in the abdomen with the knife. Tr. 183. When Landrum realized that Davis had been stabbed, she ran to a neighboring house to get a towel for the wound. Tr. 136. Johnson told Davis to stay down because he was hurt. Tr. 184. Johnson tried to get people to call 911, but no one responded so he went back to his aunt's apartment to call himself. Id. Johnson threw the knife in some bushes and fled the scene. Tr. 201.

Marlon Taylor and his partner, paramedics at the Bolivar County Medical Center in Cleveland, Mississippi, responded to a 911 call supposedly placed by Johnson shortly after midnight. Tr. 10, 21. When the paramedics arrived at the scene in Shelby, they saw the victim, Davis, lying on his back in the middle of the street. *Id.* At this point in time, Davis was not responding so they performed a sternum rub which proved successful in getting him to respond. Tr. 11. The paramedics observed that Davis was suffering from a stab wound

in the upper left region of the abdomen. Tr. 12. Davis was placed in the ambulance, where he continuously asked the paramedic if he was going to die. Tr.16. Noticing that he was suffering from internal bleeding, the paramedics responded that they were doing everything they could to help him. *Id*. While in the ambulance, Davis was speaking to the police officer at the scene, Officer Russell, and told the officer that Ardes Johnson was the person that stabbed him. Tr. 29-30. Officer Russell went to Johnson's family home but was unsuccessful in finding Johnson. Tr. 30.

Around 6:00 a.m. Johnson left Shelby, Mississippi, and headed back home to Chicago. Johnson was eventually found on July 8, 2003, in Chicago by FBI Agent Pablo Araya. Tr. 84, 186. Agent Araya is a special agent in the violent crimes task force and is also a fugitive coordinator for those that come into the Chicago area. Tr. 77. Agent Araya arrested Johnson in a home in the Chicago area, read him his Miranda rights, and then interviewed him at the police station. Tr. 78-79, 81. During the interview, Johnson gave his version of the story. Johnson told Agent Araya that he placed the knife in his pocket for protection. Tr. 89. He then described the area where he threw the knife upon fleeing the scene. Tr. 93.

When Charlie Griffith, a criminal investigator with the Bolivar County sheriff's Department, received word from the FBI, he went and found the knife that was used to stab Davis. Tr. 42. Upon Johnson's return to Mississippi, Griffith asked him if the knife he found in the bushes was the knife used to stab Davis, and Johnson replied that it was, in fact, the one he used to stab Davis. Johnson continually stated that he stabbed Davis in self-defense and in defense of Landrum. Tr. 194, 210.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellant, Ardes Johnson, was entitled to an acquittal as a matter of law pursuant to the Weathersby Rule which is found in Weathersby v. State, 165 Miss. 207, 209, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933) and its progeny. The Appellant was the only one present when Davis was stabbed because Landrum had already walked off. The Appellant admitted to stabbing Davis. Johnson did so, in fear for his life and that of Landrum. Johnson's version of the events was not substantially contradicted by the evidence, and therefore he was entitled to an acquittal as a matter of law.

The verdict was also against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Johnson only used the knife for protection. He was in fear for his life and that of Landrum. The evidence shows that Davis had been harassing Landrum throughout the day. With the last incidence, Davis showed up at Johnson's aunts's apartment, intoxicated, extremely irate, beating on the door real hard, and making threatening remarks. Davis slapped Landrum, then lunged while swinging at Johnson with a potentially dangerous object in his hand, Johnson did what he thought he could do to defend himself and to further prevent harm to Landrum. Johnson acted in self-defense. The verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. This was clearly reversible error.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT; THEREFORE THE APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO AN ACQUITTAL PURSUANT TO *WEATHERSBY V. STATE*, 165 MISS. 207, 209, 147 SO. 481, 482 (1933).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has set forth the standard of review for the sufficiency

of the evidence as follows:

We must, with respect to each element of the offense, consider all of the evidence-not just the evidence which supports the case for the prosecution-in the light most favorable to the verdict. The credible evidence which is consistent with the guilt [of the accused] must be accepted as true. The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are resolved by the jury. We may reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty.

Gleeton v. State, 716 So.2d 1083, 1087 (Miss. 1998)(citing Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 808

(Miss.1987)).

The Appellant asserts that he was entitled to an acquittal based on the rule set forth

by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Weathersby v. State, 165 Miss. 207, 209, 147 So. 481,

482 (1933). In Weathersby, the Court held:

[W]here the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge.

Weathersby, 165 Miss. At 209, 147 So. At 482. The Weathersby "rule is alive and well and

living in the courtrooms of this state." Heidel v. State, 587 So.2d 835, 839 (Miss.

1991)(citing Pritchett v. State, 560 So.2d 1017, 1019 (Miss. 1990); Blanks v. State, 547

So.2d 29, 33 (Miss. 1989); Lanier v. State, 533 So.2d 473, 490 (Miss. 1998)).

"The *Weathersby* rule requires that the reasonable, uncontradicted story of the defendant or his witness must be accepted as true. *Wetz v. State*, 503 So.2d 803, 808 (Miss. 1987), quoting *Weathersby v. State*, 165 Miss. 207, 209, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933)." *Green v. State*, 631 So.2d 167, 174 (Miss. 1994). "Where the *Weathersby* rule applies and the defendant's version affords an absolute legal defense, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict of acquittal." *Green v. State*, 631 So.2d 167, 174 (Miss. 1994). (quoting *Blanks*, *State*, 547 So.2d $\frac{29}{29}$ 33 (Miss. 1989)): "But where the defendant's story is materially contradicted, the *Weathersby* rule has no application and the matter of conviction versus acquittal becomes a question for the jury." *Id*.

"It is for the court and not the jury to determine whether the defendant receives the benefit of the *Weathersby* rule." *Green v. State* 631 So.2d 167, 175 (Miss. 1994)(citing *Null v. State*, 311 So.2d 654, 658 (Miss. 1975)). "*Weathersby*, of course, is nothing more than a particularized version of our general standards according to which courts must decide whether in a criminal prosecution the accused is entitled to a judgment of acquittal as a matter of law." *Jackson v. State*, 551 So.2d 132, 136 (Miss. 1989)(citing *Lanier v. State*, 533 So.2d 473, 490 (Miss. 1988); *Shaw v. State*, 521 So.2d 1278, 1282 (Miss. 1987); *Wetz v. State*, 503 So.2d 803, 809 (Miss. 1987); *Harveston v. State*, 493 So.2d 365, 371 (Miss. 1986)).

In the present case, Johnson was the only one present when Davis was stabbed because Landrum had already walked off. Tr. 132. Johnson stated that he only stabbed Davis because he was in fear for his life. Tr. 210. Both Johnson and Landrum had seen a

8

dark object in Davis' hand. Tr. 131, 182. Neither Johnson nor Landrum knew what the object could have been. The object could have been a gun, a brick, or some other dangerous object. The fact is that Johnson was afraid for his life and that of Landrum that he acted in self-defense to protect his own life and the life of Landrum. There was testimony that no object was found on the body of Davis or in the street. Tr. 34. However, according to Johnson's testimony, Davis was not stabbed in the street. Tr. 184. Johnson and Davis were off of the street, because after Johnson defended himself with the knife, Davis stepped back a couple of steps and he slipped on the curb and fell in the grass. Tr. 184, 194. Davis was found in the middle of the street yet he fell in the grass after he was stabbed. The dark object was probably dropped at the moment he was stabbed which would have been off of the street in the grass.

Landrum testified that she saw Davis drinking earlier during the day and that he had been on a three day drinking binge. Tr. 123-24, 160. Davis had been to Johnson's aunt's apartment three times that day, getting more and more aggressive as the day turned into night. Tr. 174, 176. The final time Davis came to the house, Johnson was so threatened and worried about Davis because of his actions, he was extremely irate, talking loud, sweating, and his eyes were bulging, that he called the cops over to the house. Tr. 177. Johnson, trying to enjoy a nice night with Landrum, grabbed a knife for their protection before walking to the store due to the radical behavior of Davis. Once Davis jumped them on the walk to the store, he hit Landrum across the face. Johnson was next on Davis's list as he lunged and

9

swung at Johnson. Johnson, fearing for his life, pulled out his knife and stabbed Davis in self-defense.

Johnson had Davis lay down because he knew Davis was hurt. Tr. 184. Tried to get someone to call 911, but instead ran to his aunt's apartment to make the call himself. Tr. 184-85. Johnson did not know Davis prior to his trip from Chicago to his grandmother's funeral. Tr. 173. The problems that Davis had throughout the day were with Landrum and not Johnson. Tr. 205. All the altercations and arguments during the day were with Landrum. *Id.* Johnson was not trying to cause any problems or get into the middle of any situations. However, Johnson had a right to defend himself and Landrum once he thought his life or Landrum's life was in danger.

In light of the evidence elicited at trial, Johnson's version of the events on the night in question are more that reasonable. His version of those events was not substantially contradicted in material particulars, and therefore he was entitled to an acquittal under Weathersby and its progeny. Accordingly, the trial court erred in not granting Johnson's motion for a directed verdict. The Appellant asserts that the Court should reverse and render on this issue.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING JOHNSON'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

In trial counsel's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal Notwithstanding the Verdict and in the Alternative for a New Trial (JNOV), counsel specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. C.P. 174, R.E. 18. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 176, R.E. 19.

In *Bush v. State*, the Mississippi Supreme Court set forth the standard of review as follows:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Herring, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." McQueen v. State, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. Id. This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. Id. Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005) (footnotes omitted).

The Mississippi Supreme Court held that "[i]f the defendant's life was in real or apparent danger at the hands of the deceased, and he believed it, then he had a right to shoot to kill. *McNeal v. State*, 115 Miss. 678, 76 So. 625, 627 (1917). Johnson's life was in real danger. He nor Landrum knew what Davis was going to do next. He had been harassing them all day long at Johnson's aunt's apartment. Tr. 176. He had been drinking, according to Landrum, for three straight days. Tr. 160. Davis was extremely irate, intoxicated, and beating on the door real hard. Tr. 127, 177. He had been beating on the door, peeping into the windows, and making threatening remarks. Tr. 177. Johnson called the cops, trying to prevent something from happening, hoping the cops could take care of the harassment by Davis. Tr. 177.

Johnson put a knife in his pocket for protection. While he and Landrum were walking to the store, they were jumped by Davis. Davis, with some object that appeared as a weapon, slapped Landrum, turned toward Johnson while lunging and swinging at him. Johnson pulled out his knife in self-defense and stabbed Davis. Johnson did not know Davis, nor did he have a problem with Davis. Johnson reacted once he thought his life was in danger, by defending himself. The verdict was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The Appellant therefore respectfully asserts that the foregoing facts demonstrate that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial. To allow this verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *See Hawthorne v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 (Miss. 2004).

CONCLUSION

The Appellant contends that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict and that the Court should reverse and render his conviction. However, should that Court not reverse and render, the Appellant contends that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and therefore the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.