# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# **FILED**

ARDES LEE JOHNSON

NOV 0 6 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS **APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-0159

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT AND THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN ACQUITTAL PURSUANT TO THE WEATHERSBY DECISION.
- II. THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendant, Ardes Johnson, traveled back to his hometown, Shelby, Mississippi, to attend his grandmother's funeral. (Transcript p. 170). While in town, he ran into his former girlfriend, Shirley Landrum. (Transcript p. 172-73). The two had consensual sex even though Landrum was in a relationship with her live-in boyfriend, Terrell Davis. (Transcript p. 208).

On July 2, 2003, Landrum spent the majority of the day at Johnson's aunt's house assisting him with packing his aunt's belongings. (Transcript p. 121). Davis came by the house a number of times that day looking for her. (Transcript p. 126 and 174-77). Eventually, Landrum asked Johnson to lie to Davis and say that she was not there. (Transcript p. 85). Davis became angry and Johnson

called the police. (Transcript p. 178). When the police arrived, Davis was no longer at the house. (Transcript p. 31).

Later that evening, Johnson and Landrum decided to walk to the store to get beer. (Transcript p. 179). While on their way to the store, they saw Davis who was very upset. (Transcript p. 129-30 and 181). Davis hit Landrum in the face. (Transcript p. 130). She walked away and Johnson stabbed Davis in the abdomen. (Transcript p. 133-34 and 183). Johnson left the scene before the authorities arrived and disposed of the knife used to stab Davis. (Transcript p. 30 and 42). Johnson was later arrested at his home in Chicago. (Transcript p. 78).

Johnson was indicted for murder. He was first tried in May of 2004 and found guilty of deliberate design murder. However, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed and remanded the case back to the trial court because of issues with the jury instructions. Johnson was tried again in November of 2005. A mistrial was declared as the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict. Johnson was then tried in December of 2006. He was convicted of manslaughter and sentenced to twenty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Johnson's conviction and sentence should be affirmed as there was sufficient evidence to establish each of the elements of manslaughter. Moreover, the *Weathersby* rule is inapplicable as Johnson is procedurally barred from raising the issue and as there were discrepancies between the defendant's testimony and the other evidence presented at trial. Furthermore, the verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT AND THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN ACQUITTAL PURSUANT TO THE WEATHERSBY DECISION.

Johnson argues that the "evidence was insufficient to support the verdict." (Appellant's Brief

p. 6). The Court of Appeals set forth the standard regarding such arguments as follows:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence - not just that supporting the prosecution in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give the prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. If the facts and the inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty, reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record such substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fairminded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb. Moody v. State, 841 So.2d 1067, 1092 (Miss. 2003) In other words, once the jury has returned a verdict of guilty in a criminal case, we are not at liberty to direct that the defendant be discharged short of a conclusion on our part that given the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984) (citing Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983)

Phinisee v. State, 864 So.2d 988, 992 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (Emphasis added). With this standard in mind, there is sufficient evidence in the case at hand to prove each and every required element of manslaughter.

Johnson was convicted of manslaughter as defined by Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-35. The elements of manslaughter are "1) the killing of a human being, (2) without malice, (3) in the heat of passion, (4) but in a cruel or unusual manner, or by the use of a dangerous weapon, (5) without authority of law, (6) and not in necessary self-defense." *Ward v. State*, 935 So.2d 1047, 1055 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Accordingly, in the case at hand, the State had the burden of proving that Davis was

killed by Johnson in the heat of passion with a dangerous weapon and without authority of law and

not in necessary self defense. The evidence presented at trial establishes the following facts in this

### regard:

- a. Davis died as the result of a stab wound to the abdomen. (Transcript p. 67).
- b. Johnson admitted that he stabbed Davis with a knife. (Transcript p. 183).
- c. Davis's girlfriend, Shirley Landrum, spent the day prior to Davis' death with Johnson, her former boyfriend, helping him pack up his aunt's apartment. (Transcript p. 121).
- d. Johnson and Landrum had consensual sex a few days before Davis's death. (Transcript p. 208).
- e. Davis came to Johnson's aunt's apartment several times that day asking for Landrum. (Transcript p. 174, 175, and 177).
- f. Landrum asked Johnson to lie to Davis and say that she was not there the last time he came to the apartment looking for her. (Transcript p. 85).
- g. Johnson and Landrum were walking down the street when they were confronted by Davis. (Transcript p. 181).
- h. Johnson and Landrum testified that Davis hit Landrum with his hand. (Transcript p. 130 and 182).
- I. Investigators saw no visible injuries on Landrum. (Transcript p. 32, 41, and 52).
- j. Landrum testified that she walked away after Davis hit her. (Transcript p. 133 and 182).
- k. Johnson claims that Davis had a dark object in his left hand, but was unable to identify the object. (Transcript p. 182 and 195).
- l. Landrum claims that Davis had a dark object in his right hand, but was unable to identify the object. (Transcript p. 131).
- m. Both Landrum and Johnson testified that they never saw the alleged dark object after Davis was stabbed. (Transcript p. 138, 154, and 193).
- n. Investigators never found this alleged dark object at the scene of the crime. (Transcript p. 34).
- o. Johnson admits that Davis never struck him. (Transcript p. 96 and 195).
- p. Johnson told FBI Agent Araya that the knife "went all the way in cause [he] felt [his] hand against his body. (Transcript p. 90).
- q. Dr. Hayne testified that the stab wound "entered the body and traveled a distance of approximately eight plus or minus one centimeters." (Transcript p. 66).
- r. Johnson left the scene before police and emergency workers arrived and disposed of the knife used to stab Davis. (Transcript p. 42 and 200).

Further, no argument has been made and the evidence has not shown that Johnson was acting within the authority of law. Thus, there is sufficient evidence that Johnson is guilty of manslaughter as defined by Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-35.

Johnson further argues that he was "entitled to an acquittal pursuant to *Weathersby v. State*, 165 Miss 207, 147 So. 481, 482 (Miss. 1933)." (Appellant's Brief p. 6). However, Johnson is procedurally barred from raising the issue as he "made no reference to insufficiency of the evidence based on the *Weathersby* rule" in his final motion for directed verdict or in his motion for J.N.O.V. *See Davis v. State*, 891 So.2d 256, 258 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (also holding that "[w]ithout specificity, a trial court will not err by denying the motion.").

Notwithstanding the bar, Johnson was not entitled to an acquittal based on the *Weathersby* rule. The *Weathersby* rule states that "where the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the State, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge." *Williams v. State*, 964 So.2d 541, 547 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Weathersby v. State*, 147 So. 481, 482 (Miss. 1933)). "When the evidence shows circumstances which materially contradict the defendant's version of the facts, then the matter of guilt is properly an issue for the jury." *Id.* (citing *Mallett v. State*, 606 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Miss. 1992)).

This Court has previously noted that "[d]efendants have often cited and argued application of the *Weathersby* Rule, but seldom have they prevailed. Usually, a factual issue is presented which requires submission of the case to the jury." *Buchanan v. State*, 567 So.2d 194, 196 (Miss. 1990). That is the case here. In support of his *Weathersby* argument, Johnson asserts that he "only stabbed Davis because he was in fear for his life" and that he was "afraid for his life and that of Landrum that

he acted in self-defense to protect his own life and the life of Landrum." (Appellant's Brief p. 8 and 9). Mississippi law is clear that "because the assessments of the level and imminence of the threat to the defendant's physical well-being and the appropriateness of the defendant's level of response to the perceived danger require interpretation and analysis of the peculiar set of facts presented in a particular case, it is well settled that the reasonableness of the defendant's actions is normally a matter for the jury sitting as finders of fact." *Carter v. State*, 858 So.2d 212, 215 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Meshell v. State*, 506 So.2d 989, 991-92 (Miss.1987)). Thus, the issue was properly before the jury.

The jury, by finding Johnson guilty of manslaughter, did not believe that Johnson acted on "a reasonable apprehension of a design or plan on the part of the deceased to kill him or to do great bodily harm, and . . . that there was imminent danger of such design being accomplished." Stennis v. State, 234 So.2d 611, 614 (Miss. 1970). While, Johnson did testify that he was "afraid for his life," the facts and circumstances surrounding the incident do not establish that Davis was threatening Johnson's life. First, Davis was a smaller man than Johnson. Davis weighed approximately 170 pounds and Johnson weighed 225 pounds. (Transcript p. 59 and 199). Additionally, while Johnson testified that Davis had a dark object in his hand, there was no evidence that this dark object existed or that Davis used it to threaten Johnson. Johnson testified that Davis threatened him with his hand, yet could not give any details about the alleged dark object in Davis's hand. Furthermore, Johnson was so close to Davis that he was able to put the knife eight centimeters into Davis's body, but he never saw the alleged dark object in Davis's hand. Further, Johnson admitted that he has never testified that Davis hit him. (Transcript p. 195). He testified that Davis "threatened [him] with his hand like this." and asked "should I let him hit me?" (Transcript p. 195). This Court held in Holliday v. State, that "[i]t is not true that a party has a right

to kill another on the first appearance of danger. The rule is that to defend on alleged threats and apprehension of threats there must be a demonstration by the party making the threat which would induce a reasonable man to believe that there was danger of such threat being immediately executed." 418 So.2d 69, 73 (Miss.1982) (citing *Bright v. State*, 349 So.2d 503 (Miss.1977)). This Court has also held that "[a] defendant is not entitled to use deadly force in self-defense based upon a subjective fear of great bodily injury unless it is determined by a jury that this fear is reasonable under the circumstances." *Ellis v. State*, 708 So.2d 884, 887 (Miss.1998).

Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted in *Smith v. State*, that "[i]f [the defendant] had lawfully shot [the victim] in self-defense, the jury could have reasoned that he would have immediately contacted the authorities and would have been on the premises to explain the events when the authorities arrived." 945 So.2d 414, 420 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Johnson left the scene before the authorities arrived and disposed of the knife used to kill Davis which further evidences that the stabbing was not in self defense. Moreover, there is absolutely no evidence that he acted in defense of Landrum as both Johnson and Landrum testified that Landrum walked away. (Transcript p. 133 and 182).

Johnson further argues that "his version of those events was not substantially contradicted in material particulars. .." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). However, the evidence at trial does not fully support Johnson's version of how the incident in question occurred. First, no dark object was found at the scene of the crime. (Transcript p. 34). In fact, both Johnson and Landrum testified that they did not see this alleged object after Davis was stabbed. (Transcript p. 138, 154, and 193). Further, Johnson testified that the alleged object was in Davis's left hand and Landrum testified that it was in his right hand. (Transcript p. 131, 182, and 195). Second, Johnson claims that Davis was drunk. (Appellant's Brief p. 9). However, the toxicology test confirms that there were "no drugs or abuse

of medications identified and no alcohol identified" in Davis's body. (Transcript p. 60). Lastly, Johnson first told FBI Agent Araya that he saw something out of the corner of his eye come out of the bushes and that it was Davis. (Transcript p. 90). He then testified at trial that Davis ran up behind them. (Transcript p. 181). Landrum's version was very different. Landrum testified in detail regarding seeing Davis in the car with his brother, where the car with both Davis and his brother traveled, and how Davis jumped out of the car at the clinic and walked down Martin Luther King where she and Johnson were. (Transcript p. 129 - 130). She further testified that Davis was "bouncing around" and "leaping up on his feet." (Transcript p. 130). Clearly, the evidence presented at trial "materially contradicted" Johnson's version of how the killing occurred and therefore, the *Weathersby* rule is inapplicable.

As there was sufficient evidence to establish each of the elements of manslaughter and as the Weathersby rule does not apply, Johnson's first issue is without merit.

# II. THE VERDICT WAS NOT AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The appellate standard of review for claims that a conviction is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is as follows:

[This court] must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial. A new trial will not be ordered unless the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an "unconscionable injustice."

Pierce v. State, 860 So.2d 855 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Smith v. State, 802 So.2d 82, 85-86 (Miss. 2001)). On review, the Court must accept as true all evidence favorable to the State.

McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993).

Johnson asserts that the facts surrounding the incident "demonstrate that the verdict was